THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
Mar 08 2021
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price

Appellate Case No. 2020-000936

Skip Hoagland, Appellant,

v.

John Tecklenburg, in his official capacity, the City of Charleston, and the City of
Charleston Police Department, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Taylor M. Smith IV
S.C. Bar No. 101584
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Where the lower court ruled that Appellant's amended complaint must be dismissed with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, and that the lower court would not reconsider this ruling, did the lower court err in dismissal of Appellant's first and third causes of action?**
- II. Where the lower court ruled that it would not reconsider its order of dismissal with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, did the lower court err in determining that Appellant's amended complaint should be dismissed with prejudice without first providing him leave to amend and consider an amended pleading?**
- III. Where the lower court ruled that Appellant's amended complaint must be dismissed with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, and that lower court would not reconsider this ruling, did the lower court err in dismissal of Appellant's fourth cause of action for declaratory judgment that was not addressed by Respondents' motion to dismiss or the lower court's order of dismissal?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Skip Hoagland (“Hoagland”) filed this lawsuit on July 9, 2018, against Respondents John Tecklenburg, in his official capacity, the City of Charleston, and the City of Charleston Police Department. On August 13, 2018, before service of responsive pleading by Respondents, Hoagland served and filed an Amended Complaint seeking: 1) damages from the seizure and expulsion of Hoagland during public comment before the Charleston City Council where Respondent Tecklenburg was presiding; 2) a declaratory judgment that Respondent City of Charleston violated the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, specifically S.C. Code Ann § 30-4-70, when it, through directive of Respondent Tecklenburg, removed Appellant from the premises impermissibly closing the open public meeting; 3) for damages stemming from a conspiracy between Respondents to unconstitutionally censor Hoagland during his discussion of matters of public concern; and 4) an order vacating Charleston City Ordinance 2-28 (Conduct Code) for being unconstitutionally vague. (R. pp. 22-28; amended summons and complaint.)

On September 20, 2018, Respondents served their answer to Appellant’s amended complaint, along with their motion to dismiss at issue in this matter. Respondents’ answer admitted introductory allegations of facts concerning jurisdiction, denied all others and raised fourteen defenses, including for Rules 8 and 12, SCRCP. (R. pp. 30-35; answer.) Respondents’ motion to dismiss sought 1) dismissal of the Charleston Police Department, “as it is not a legal entity subject to suit”; 2) dismissal of John Tecklenburg as he and the City of Charleston (hereinafter “the City”) “are on in the same for purposes of this litigation such that this action may

not be brought against both”; 3-) dismissal of the City because it can deny “non-residents the right to speak entirely” and has “a substantial interest in conducting orderly efficient meetings”; 4) dismissal of Appellant’s SCFOIA cause of action for failure to state a claim “as FOIA does not require governmental bodies to allow citizens to speak at meetings”; and 5) dismissal of Appellant’s civil conspiracy cause of action “as he has not alleged special damages and because the claim is barred by the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine.” (R. pp. 38-39; motion to dismiss.) On April 27, 2020, Appellant served his memorandum of law in opposition to Respondents’ motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 42-50; memorandum of law opposing motion to dismiss.) Three days later, on April 30, 2020, Respondents served their memorandum of law in support of the motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 51-63; memorandum of law in support motion to dismiss.) Appellant served his reply to Respondents’ memorandum of law on May 1, 2020. (R. pp. 64-69; reply to memorandum of law in support motion to dismiss.)

On May 7, 2020, the trial court entered its order granting Respondents’ motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 1-4; motion to dismiss order.) First, the motion to dismiss order provided that “[based on the facts alleged in his Complaint, Plaintiff has not stated facts sufficient to state a claim of constitutional magnitude.” (R. p. 2; motion to dismiss order.) Second, the order dismissed Appellant’s South Carolina Freedom of Information Act cause of action on the basis that the City’s public meeting in question remained open the public, even after Appellant’s removal, so his “claim that his removal transformed the City Council meeting into a closed session or otherwise not open meeting in violation of FOAI are without merit.” (R. p. 2; motion to dismiss order.) Third, the order dismissed Appellant’s claim for civil conspiracy for two

reasons: 1) Appellant “failed to allege any separate and distinct acts to further the conspiracy or any separate special damages other than those that been alleged in his other causes of action” and 2) because the factual allegations of civil conspiracy concern only City employees, the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine bars these claims “[a]s an agency or corporation cannot conspire with itself.” (R. p. 2; motion to dismiss order.) “THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that Plaintiff has not stated facts sufficient to constitute a case of action, and pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is hereby granted, ending this matter and dismissing Plaintiff’s claims with prejudice. AND IT IS ORDERED!” (R. p. 3; motion to dismiss order.)

On May 18, 2020, the undersigned entered his notice of appearance and served Appellant’s motion to reconsider the motion to dismiss order. (R. pp. 70-73; motion to reconsider motion to dismiss order.) The motion to reconsider recites verbatim allegations from the complaint concerning Appellant’s arrest and removal from the City public meeting and then provided “as it related to the alleged state constitution violation of suppression of freedom of speech and the right to petition, a reasonable inference was raised that Defendant Tecklenburg’s silencing and removal of Plaintiff was to stop him speaking about ‘lies’ ‘Hellen Hill’ or any other subject of reasonable inference from the Amended Complaint.” (R. p. 71; motion to reconsider motion to dismiss order.) The motion to reconsider also pointed out that the Respondent Tecklenburg’s “discretionary decision” to remove Appellant from the meeting was capable of constitutional violation and “likely caused fear in the chose speakers after Plaintiff and may have altered their comments before council that evening.” (R. p. 72; motion to

reconsider motion to dismiss order.) The motion to reconsider provided the trial court's order of dismissal also failed to provide Appellant with a reasonable inference regarding the civil conspiracy claim.

While an inference from paragraph 12 of the Amended Complaint that "the Mayor ordered the City of Charleston Police Department to take custody of the Plaintiff and physically remove him from the public meeting and deposit him outside on a public street" may be that the Defendant Police Department was acting at the behest of the mayor, that is not necessarily the case. A reasonable inference could be that for different reasons (perhaps because they did not like the appearance of Plaintiff or wanted to protect the reputation of Helen Hill) the police department took custody of Plaintiff and removed him from the building. While the Defendant Mayor had already successfully silenced the Plaintiff by saying he was out of order, the Defendant Police Department took the separate and distinct action of removal. Essentially, Plaintiff could not have known the intentions of these distinct and separate actors, but he may be able to prove them if he is allowed this reasonable inference at this stage in the proceeding.

(R. pp. 72-73; motion to reconsider motion to dismiss order.)

Finally, the motion to reconsider warned the trial court that neither Respondents' motion to dismiss nor the trial court's motion to dismiss order, addressed Appellant's fourth cause of action in the amended complaint that the "decorum" Ordinance 2-28 of Respondent City is unconstitutionally vague and thus, void as a matter of law. (R. pp. 72-73; motion to reconsider motion to dismiss order.)

On May 27, 2020, the parties, represented by counsel, appeared before the Honorable Bentley Price, for a hearing via Zoom, web-conference technology, on Appellant's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 74-99; transcript motion to reconsider hearing.) On May 28, 2020, the trial court entered its order denying Appellant's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 5-7; order denying motion to reconsider.) Appellant served and filed his notice of appeal on June 29, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing a motion to dismiss, this Court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” Carolina Park Assocs., LLC v. Marino, 400 S.C. 1, 732 S.E.2d 876 (S.C. 2012)(citing Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007)). “Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” Id. (quoting Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011)).

A court must dismiss a complaint whenever it “fail[s] to state facts sufficient to state a cause of action.” Rule 12(b)(6), S.C.R.C.P. The ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action must be based solely upon the allegations set forth in the pleading. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). “The motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. The question is whether in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in her behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Dye v. Gainey, 320 S.C. 65, 67-68, 463 S.E.2d 97, 98-99 (Ct. App. 1995). The complaint should not be dismissed even if the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. Id. A court must view the allegations and draw inferences in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, but even taking this approach, the court must dismiss the complaint if “the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law.” Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009).

ARGUMENT

I. The court's denial of Appellant's motion to reconsider and the court's dismissal of Appellant's first and third causes of action of his amended complaint was error

Appellant's first and third causes of action of the amended complaint are for violations of freedom of speech and civil conspiracy, respectively. (R. pp. 23-27; amended summons and complaint.)

Appellant's first cause of action allegations are contained in paragraphs 7-21 in pages 3-6 of the amended complaint. (R. pp. 23-26; amended summons and complaint.) The allegations are simply too numerous and detailed to repeat here; however, they describe the actions of Respondents on the evening of May 25, 2018, when they seized and removed Appellant from the City's public meeting for allegedly violating Ordinance 2-28 ("Rules of Decorum") when Appellant was speaking to council during the appointed time and said "Numbers don't lie; Helen Hill lies." (R. p. 23; amended summons and complaint.) In short: the allegations state that Plaintiff was taken into Respondents' custody and removed from the City meeting for the content of his speech. (R. pp. 23-26; amended summons and complaint.) The lower court's order of dismissal provides:

This Court finds that the Mayor possesses the ordained power to maintain decorum at City Council meetings and may utilize his discretion in doing so. The police department must act at the direction of the Mayor during City Council meetings and at no time was the plaintiff under arrest. Based on the facts as alleged in his Complaint, Plaintiff has not stated facts sufficient to state a claim of constitutional magnitude. Rather, the facts as alleged by Plaintiff are that the Mayor made a discretionary decision to remove Plaintiff from a City Council and the police department followed the direction of the Mayor to remove Plaintiff. These actions are entirely within the Defendants' rights as outlined in City

of Charleston Ordinances. As such, Plaintiff's claims regarding constitutional violations should be dismissed.

(R. pp. 1-2; motion to dismiss order.)

As Appellant argued in his motion to reconsider, there are numerous inferences that can be drawn from these numerous allegations among these 14 paragraphs in three pages of this amended summons and complaint, but one permissible, abundantly reasonable inference, is that Respondent's reaction to Appellant's statement that "Numbers don't lie; Helen Hill lies" was to address the statement and punish Appellant for it. "[A]bove all else, the First Amendment means that government has no power to restrict expression because of its message, its ideas, its subject matter, or its content." Police Department of City of Chicago v. Mosley, 408 U.S. 92, 92 S.Ct. 2286, 33 L.Ed.2d 212 (1972); Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 15, 24, 91 S.Ct. 1780, 1787, 29 L.Ed.2d 284 (1971); Street v. New York, 394 U.S. 576, 89 S.Ct. 1354, 22 L.Ed.2d 572 (1969); New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 269—270, 84 S.Ct. 710, 720—721, 11 L.Ed.2d 686 (1964), and cases cited; NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 445, 83 S.Ct. 328, 344, 9 L.Ed.2d 405 (1963); Wood v. Georgia, 370 U.S. 375, 388—389, 82 S.Ct. 1364, 1371—1372, 8 L.Ed.2d 569 (1962); Terminiello v. Chicago, 337 U.S. 1, 4, 69 S.Ct. 894, 895, 93 L.Ed. 1131 (1949); De Jonge v. Oregon, 299 U.S. 353, 365, 57 S.Ct. 255, 260, 81 L.Ed. 278 (1937). As the United States Supreme Court makes clear in the cited authority above, there are limits placed on the exercise of government power against the liberties of the citizenry in this constitutional republic. It was error for trial court to conclude its inquiry into the applicable constitutional law ended at whether Respondent Tecklenburg had the discretion to act. The factual allegations of the amended complaint plainly state government action to silence Appellant while

speaking about an important matter before the appropriate government body. Regardless of whether the amended complaint states the correct legal theory to get redress for this censorship, if provided an opportunity to amend the pleading, another legal theory may be used, which Appellant referenced at the hearing concerning his motion to reconsider. (R. p. 81; transcript motion to reconsider hearing.)

Appellant's third cause of action provides in paragraph 29 that it was the "unlawful combination of the defendants to use armed force to arrest the plaintiff and censor his speech to prevent him from presenting what he reasonably believes is evidence of unlawful conversion of public funds caused the plaintiff special damage, including the suppression of legal speech for which the law presumes an irreparable harm and forced the plaintiff to incur attorney's fees and associated case costs in order to vindicate his fundamental free speech rights." (R. p. 27; amended summons and complaint.) This cause of action provides that the censoring of appellant was an "illegal purpose" which "prevented him from presenting evidence of improper and unlawful use of public money." (R. p. 27; amended summons and complaint.) The factual allegations of paragraphs 12, 13, and 17 provide the facts necessary to show that each was each respondent's individual actions that combined to create the censorship of Appellant's views, which this case was brought to redress. (R. pp. 23-26; amended summons and complaint.) Appellant's motion to reconsider provides that, while there is only one inference the trial court afforded Appellant on these allegations (that the police officers were acting at the behest of the Respondent mayor) but there were other reasonable inferences, including whether the police officers acted at that time with separate motivations than a perceived command from Respondent mayor. Only

allowing additional discovery in this action will have provided answers to which inference was correct and would be resolved by motions for summary judgment or trial. Either way, it was error for the trial court to not provide Appellant this reasonable inference, among others, from the allegations cited.

II. The lower court's denial of Appellant's motion to reconsider that it would not reconsider its order of dismissal with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, was error in determining that Appellant's amended complaint should be dismissed with prejudice without first providing him leave to amend and consider an amended pleading

The lower court order granting dismissal ends with the statement that "... Defendants' Motion to Dismiss is hereby granted, ending this matter and dismissing Plaintiff's claims with prejudice." (R. p. 3; motion to dismiss order.) The lower court's order denying Appellant's motion to reconsider did not change this outcome. (R. p. 5; order denying motion to reconsider.)

At separate times, with separate attorneys, Appellant requested leave to amend if the lower court was inclined to rule the amended complaint did not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action and that it was being dismissed. First, in Appellant's reply to Respondents' memorandum of law, Appellant said, "[i]f the Court believes that the allegations of special damages are not set forth with sufficient specificity, the plaintiff has no objection for an amended complaint to ensure that the City is aware that the plaintiff is claiming special damages." (R. p. 69; reply to memorandum of law in support motion to dismiss.) Next, at the motion to reconsider hearing, Appellant sought leave to amend and warned the court that not providing leave

to amend to cure notice issues may considered an abuse of discretion, pursuant to Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry County, 426 S.C. 175, 826 S.E.2d 585 (2019).

In Skydive, the South Carolina Supreme Court considered a case where a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, was brought by the Defendants/Respondents that was granted by the Court. Id. at 179. Before the motion was granted, Skydive requested it “be allowed to amend its complaint to cure any pleading defects in the event the court decided to grant Respondents motion.” Id. “Nevertheless, the court granted Respondents' motion and dismissed Skydive's claims against Respondents without considering Skydive's request to amend its complaint. The order specifically provided the dismissal was ‘with prejudice.’” Id. In Skydive, the Supreme Court said the lower court “erred by failing even to consider allowing Skydive to amend its Complaint.” Id. at 180.

“When a trial court finds a complaint fails ‘to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action’ under Rule 12(b)(6), the court should give the plaintiff an opportunity to amend the complaint pursuant to Rule 15(a) before filing the final order of dismissal.” Id.; See Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 179, 182, 83 S.Ct. 227, 228, 230, 9 L.Ed.2d 222, 224, 226 (1962) (where a complaint is dismissed "for failure to state a claim upon which relief might be granted," leave to amend the complaint "should, as the rules require, be ‘freely given’ " (quoting Rule 15(a), Fed. R. Civ. P.)).

This is not to say that leave to amend will always be provided. If the party opposing the amendment can show a valid reason for denying that motion, then “[a] trial court has discretion to deny a motion to amend.” Id. at 182. Some possible “valid reasons” include, but likely are not limited to, “undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive

on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, [and] undue prejudice to the opposing party[.]” Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S.Ct. 227 (1962). Otherwise, leave to amend should be “freely given.” Skydive at 179. Moreover, “outright refusal to grant leave [to amend] without any justifying reason appearing for the denial is . . . [an] abuse of . . . discretion.” *Id.* Again, “[t]he burden of establishing a reason for this denial is on the party opposing the amendment. Patton v. Miller, 420 S.C. 471, 491 n.9, 804 S.E.2d 252, 262 n.9 (2017).

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