THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Mar 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000936

Skip Hoagland,

Plaintiff – Appellant,

v.

John Tecklenburg, in his official capacity, the City of Charleston, and the City of Charleston
Police Department,

Defendants – Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

s/Christopher T. Dorsel
Christopher T. Dorsel, Esquire
SC Bar No. 72504
SENN LEGAL, LLC
3 Wesley Drive
P.O. Box 12279
Charleston, SC 29422
(843) 556-4045
Email: chris@sennlegal.com
Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED APPELLANT’S CAUSES OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION AND CIVIL CONSPIRACY.**

- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN NOT ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO AMEND HIS AMENDED COMPLAINT, AS ANY AMENDMENT WOULD HAVE BEEN FUTILE.**

- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ADDRESSED APPELLANT’S REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF, AND DISMISSAL WAS APPROPRIATE.**

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED APPELLANT’S CAUSES OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION AND CIVIL CONSPIRACY.

A. South Carolina Constitutional Violation

Our South Carolina courts have held that “the South Carolina Constitution does not provide for monetary damages for civil rights violations and the legislature has not enacted an enabling statute....” *Palmer v. State*, 427 S.C. 36, 46, 829 S.E.2d 255, 261 (Ct. App. 2019). Appellant’s first cause of action is seeking monetary damages for an alleged violation of his South Carolina constitutional rights. Appellant argues that the court abused its discretion in dismissing this cause of action, citing to inferences that the court could have drawn in his favor. This argument is without merit as, regardless of what inferences may have been drawn, this Court has expressly stated that there is no cause of action for a violation of the South Carolina Constitution. As such, Appellant’s first cause of action was appropriately dismissed.

Even if our State Constitution allowed such a claim, the facts as alleged by Appellant do not rise to the level of a constitutional violation. Appellant stood up during the public comment section of a Charleston City Council meeting and commenced his speech by effectively defaming a woman. The Mayor, who runs the City Council meetings and who has rather broad discretion in how the meetings are conducted,¹ determined that Plaintiff was in violation of the Rules of Decorum. *See* Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-28 (R. p. 101). This means that the Mayor determined that Appellant’s choice to call a woman a liar indicated that Appellant was not

¹ *See, e.g.*, Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-39 (Council members are prohibited from leaving Council meeting without permission of Mayor) (R. p. 103); Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-40 (Council members have to be recognized by the Mayor before they can speak on a topic) (R. p. 104); Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-44 (Mayor shall decide all questions of order) (R. p. 105); Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-28(a) (Mayor has discretion to bar a person for violating Rules of Decorum) (R. p. 101); and Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-28(b) (the sergeant-at-arms shall carry out all orders and instructions given by the Mayor for the purpose of maintaining order and decorum) (R. p. 101).

conducting himself in a “manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting” or that Appellant’s calling a woman a liar was an action that “disrupts, disturbs, or otherwise impedes the orderly conduct of a City Council meeting.” *Id.* Either way, the Ordinance specifically states that in the event of actions such as Appellant’s, the Mayor has the discretion to bar that person from the meeting and remove him or her from the building. *Id.* This is precisely what happened here and Respondents’ actions were completely within the rights and abilities granted to them by the ordinances. Simply because Appellant does not think that calling someone a liar is disruptive, disturbing, or inappropriate at a City Council meeting does not change the discretionary power of the Mayor to limit public comment at City Council meetings.

Moreover, Appellant, as a citizen of Beaufort County, did not have the right to petition City Council in the first instance. Appellant admits in his Complaint that he is a resident of Beaufort County. (Am. Compl. ¶ 1) (R. p. 22). The claims in this case involve a Charleston City Council meeting and Appellant’s allegation that he was wrongfully prevented from providing a public comment at a Council meeting. However, the ordinances in question do not provide Appellant the right to provide public comment.

Section 2-37 of the Charleston City Code outlines the order of business at Council meetings. Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-37 (R. p. 102). This section states that the “Citizens participation period” is governed by Section 2-69. That section reads as follows:

All communications to the city council shall be by petition or memorial. None other than members of council shall be heard on any petition or memorial without the unanimous consent of council, except that during a period of thirty (30) minutes of each regular meeting the mayor **may** recognize **citizens of Charleston** who wish to address council on matters of city business....

Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-69 (emphasis added) (R. p. 106).

In this case, Appellant alleges that his “right” to address the Charleston City Council was violated. However, Appellant cannot point to any provision in the City Code that indicates that he, as a non-citizen, has a specific right to address City Council. According to the ordinances, there is no “right” to address City Council at all. Rather, “the mayor may recognize citizens of Charleston” and only during the public comment period of the meeting. Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-69 (emphasis added) (R. p. 106). Thus, although a public comment section was allowed at this particular meeting, Appellant, as a non-citizen of Charleston, did not have any ordinance-based right to address City Council. Therefore, Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, and his case was properly dismissed.

B. Civil Conspiracy

The Circuit Court correctly held that Appellant’s Civil Conspiracy claim failed as a matter of law on three grounds: 1) Appellant failed to allege any separate and distinct acts to further the conspiracy; 2) Appellant failed to allege any separate special damages other than those that had been alleged in his other causes of action, and 3) Appellant’s claims were barred by the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine. (Order on Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss at 2) (R. p. 2).

In this matter, Appellant only appeals the lower court’s ruling that Appellant did not allege separate and distinct acts. (Br. of Appellant at 10 (*i.e.*, it was “each respondent’s individual actions that combined to create the censorship of Appellant’s views...”). “A claim for civil conspiracy must allege additional acts in furtherance of a conspiracy rather than re-allege other claims within the complaint.” *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 115, 682 S.E.2d 871, 874 (Ct. App. 2009). Failure to properly plead additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the Complaint will merit dismissal of the claim. *Id.* at 115–16, 682 S.E.2d at 875.

Appellant alleged that Respondents conspired to harm him, and did so harm him, by cutting short his speech at the City Council meeting and removing him from the building. Appellant alleged in his first cause of action that this was a violation of his constitutional rights and then simply reiterated the same allegations in his third cause of action to claim that there was a civil conspiracy. Appellant's failure to plead that Respondents took any separate and independent actions outside of stopping his comments and removing him from the building is fatal to his civil conspiracy claim. Thus, the lower court was correct in ruling that Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a civil conspiracy cause of action.

Moreover, Appellant has not appealed the lower court's ruling that he did not allege separate special damages or that the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine barred his claims. Therefore, Appellant's Third Cause of Action for Civil Conspiracy is barred by the "two-issue rule." "Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case." *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284–85 (2012) (quoting *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010)).

The Circuit Court correctly held that Appellant had not alleged separate special damages that were distinct from other damages claims by Appellant and correctly ruled that the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine barred Appellant's Civil Conspiracy claim. (Order on Defs.' Mot. to Dismiss at 2) (R. p. 2). Appellant did not appeal these grounds spelled out in the Order, and therefore, these unappealed grounds become the law of this case. Even if these issues were raised on appeal, the Circuit Court was correct in its conclusions on these issues for the reasons more thoroughly argued by Respondents in the lower court. (*See* Defs.' Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to

Dismiss) (R. pp. 51-63). As such, Appellant's arguments regarding his Civil Conspiracy claim are without merit.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN NOT ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO AMEND HIS AMENDED COMPLAINT, AS ANY AMENDMENT WOULD HAVE BEEN FUTILE.

Appellant argues that he should have been provided an opportunity to amend his Amended Complaint, but what would that amendment look like? Appellant made it clear during the motion to reconsider that he would drop the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") cause of action, leaving only the state constitution violation and civil conspiracy causes of action. (Tr. of R. of May 27, 2020 Hr'g. at 16) (R. p. 89). With regard to those, Appellant advised the court "If we have an opportunity to amend then I believe we would have an opportunity to show both Your Honor and the defense to give them proper notice as to which identical legal theories and vehicles we would use to try to get recovery in a way that perhaps was not done to satisfy Your Honor or defendants in this case...." (Tr. of R. of May 27, 2020 Hr'g. at 9) (R. p. 82).

Appellant further stated that if an amendment would be allowed, he would more "artfully" lay out the facts and the legal claims associated with his causes of action. (Tr. of R. of May 27, 2020 Hr'g. at 8) (R. p. 81). But there is no real dispute regarding the facts, which Appellant describes as "just the pure facts as to what happened in the meeting that night." (*Id.*). The facts cannot change regardless of how artfully a complaint is pled. Further, as Appellant advised the lower court, the amendment would include "identical legal theories," which the court considered and found to be without merit. (*Id.* at 9) (R. p. 82).

Based on Appellant's arguments, any amendment would be futile. Appellant cannot change the fact that City of Charleston police officers and the Mayor are employed by the same entity. Therefore, Appellant cannot overcome the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine. Thus,

allowing an amendment to his civil conspiracy claim would be futile. Similarly, even if Appellant fleshed out pages of facts and legal theories regarding his cause of action for violation of his South Carolina constitutional rights, Appellant cannot change the fact that our Courts have held that there is no legal vehicle to bring a claim for a violation of the South Carolina Constitution.

Appellant argued at length about amending his Amended Complaint. The lower court heard arguments about how Appellant should be able to rewrite his constitutional claims and civil conspiracy claims. The court also heard arguments from Respondents about how allowing an amendment would be futile. (Tr. of R. of May 27, 2020 Hr'g. at 20–21) (R. pp. 93-94). Then the lower court correctly ruled that based on the facts of this case, Appellant had not and could not state facts sufficient to succeed on those causes of action.

Although leave should be freely given to amend one's complaint, that leave is not without limits. If the proposed amendment would be futile, it is within the court's discretion to not allow the amendment. Here, based on Appellant's arguments to the court, an amendment to the two causes of action on appeal would have been futile, and therefore, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in not allowing Appellant to amend his Amended Complaint.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ADDRESSED APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF, AND DISMISSAL WAS APPROPRIATE.

Appellant asserts that the lower court did not consider his Fourth Cause of Action for declaratory judgment. The transcript shows otherwise, however, as the lower court did in fact consider arguments on the Fourth Cause of Action. (*See* Tr. of R. of May 27, 2020 Hr'g. at 18–19, 21–22) (R. pp. 91-91, 94-95). Further, and as will be argued below, the lower court's dismissal of the declaratory judgment action was proper as the issues raised in the declaratory judgment action were adjudicated in Appellant's other pending causes of action.

Appellant asked the lower court to declare that the following City of Charleston Ordinance Section is unconstitutionally vague:

Sec. 2-28. - Rules of decorum.

(1) *Rules of decorum.*

While any meeting of city council is in session, the following rules of decorum shall be observed:

- (a) Any person who speaks at a city council meeting shall conduct himself or herself in a manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting and shall not use any profane, abusive or obscene language nor any fighting words or otherwise engage in disorderly conduct. Any person who makes such remarks or otherwise engages in disorderly conduct which disrupts, disturbs or otherwise impedes the orderly conduct of a city council meeting shall, at the discretion of the mayor, or in his absence, the mayor pro tempore, be barred from further audience before city council during that meeting and may be removed from the building.
- (b) Any law enforcement officer who is serving as sergeant-at-arms of city council shall carry out all orders and instructions given by the mayor or in his absence, the mayor pro tempore, for the purpose of maintaining order and decorum at the city council meeting. Upon instruction of the mayor, or in his absence, the mayor pro tempore, it shall be the duty of such law enforcement officer to remove from the city council meeting any person who is disturbing the proceedings of city council.
- (c) This section in no way limits any person from being charged or arrested for criminal conduct which occurs during the course of a city council meeting or during the course of a person being removed from a city council meeting pursuant to this section.

Charleston, S.C., City Code § 2-28 (R. p. 101). Appellant alleges in his Amended Complaint that “a person of common intelligence cannot know in advance what Mayor Tecklenburg considers” to be in violation of this section of the Ordinances. (Am. Compl. ¶ 33) (R. pp. 27-28).

In this appeal, Appellant argues that the lower court never addressed whether the ordinance was unconstitutionally vague. A review of the record shows this not to be the case. (*See* Tr. of R. of May 27, 2020 Hr'g. at 17–19, 21–22) (R. pp. 90-92, 94-95). After both Appellant and Respondent addressed the declaratory judgment cause of action, the lower court likened the inherent discretionary powers granted to the Mayor during City Council meetings to that of a judge having the inherent discretionary powers to control his or her courtroom. (*Id.* at 21–22) (R. pp. 94-95). The lower court then stated, “that is the way I keep reasoning this when I am making these decisions on the case and the way I hear it.” (*Id.* at 22) (R. p. 95).

The lower court did address the ordinance itself and was able to make reasoned decisions based on the plain language of the ordinance. This in and of itself indicates that the ordinance is not unconstitutionally vague. This argument is supported by this Court’s ruling in *Wessinger v. Rauch*, 288 S.C. 157, 341 S.E.2d 643, (Ct. App. 1986), which stated,

A declaratory judgment action is not a substitute for a new trial or an appeal, nor can it operate to supersede former adjudications or proceedings already pending. As a general rule, courts will not entertain an action for declaratory judgment if there is pending, at the time the action is commenced, another action between the same parties in which the same issues presented in the action for declaratory judgment can be adjudicated.

Wessinger, 288 S.C. at 160, 341 S.E.2d at 644 (citations omitted).

The issues in Appellant’s declaratory judgment cause of action involve the same issues presented by Appellant in his other causes of action. All of Appellant’s causes of action require the court to look at the ordinances at issue and determine whether the ordinances were violated or whether Appellant’s rights were violated based on the ordinances. As such, the lower court was required to review the ordinances and come to a determination of whether the ordinances were

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